# RECEIVED

11-07-2014

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

#### IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2013AP197-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

JESSE L. HERRMANN,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Petition for Review of a Decision by the Court of Appeals, District IV, Dated February 13, 2014.

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

PAMELA MOORSHEAD Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 01017490

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4134 E-mail moorsheadp@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

#

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the judge's statements at Mr. Herrmann's sentencing reveal that she was objectively biased in violation of Mr. Herrmann's right to due process?

Resolution of the issue in the Court of Appeals:

The Court of Appeals applied the objective test for judicial bias as stated in *State v. Goodson*, 2009 WI App 107, 320 Wis.2d 166, 771 N.W.2d 385. That test asks whether a reasonable person could question the court's impartiality based on its statements. *Id.*, at ¶ 9. The court affirmed the judgment of the circuit court in a *per curiam* opinion. While acknowledging that this was "a close case," the court saw no distinction between the judge's statements here and remarks commonly made by judges expressing an understanding of the plight of crime victims. (App. 104).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Herrmann pled guilty to one count of homicide by intoxicated use of a vehicle, two counts of injury by intoxicated use of a vehicle, two counts of operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated causing injury, and one count of hit and run – resulting in death.

The circuit court sentenced Mr. Herrmann to a total of seventy-one years imprisonment (thirty-one years of initial confinement and forty years of extended supervision) followed by another 15 years of probation. (R. 26, 27).

Mr. Herrmann filed a post-conviction motion for resentencing, asserting that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion and violated his right to due process at sentencing because the judge was objectively biased. (R. 39). The circuit court denied the motion. (R. 43). Mr. Herrmann appealed. (R. 48).

The Court of Appeals applied the objective test for a due process violation based on judicial bias as stated in *State v. Goodson*, 2009 WI App 107, 320 Wis.2d 166, 771 N.W.2d 385. That test asks whether a reasonable person could question the court's impartiality based on the court's statements. *Id.*, at ¶ 9. The court affirmed the judgment of the circuit court in a *per curiam* opinion. While acknowledging that this was "a close case," the court said "we find it difficult to distinguish the judge's comments from those we have seen in many other sentencing transcripts in which the judge expresses an understanding of the plight of victims of a crime." (App. 104).

Mr. Herrmann filed a Petition for Review in this Court, which was granted.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

In the summer of 1976, five young women were in a car that was struck by a vehicle in which the driver and a passenger were "drunk out of their minds." (R. 47: 4, 78; App. 117, 191). The drunk driver and his passenger were killed. Of the five young women, four were killed. One of them was the sister of Ramona Gonzalez, who would later become a circuit court judge for LaCrosse County. (R. 47: 4, 78; App. 117, 191). Even thirty-five years later, the judge said not a day went by in which she did not think about her sister's death. (R. 47: 78; App. 191).

In the summer of 2011, five young women were in a car that was struck by a vehicle driven by Jesse Herrmann, who had a blood alcohol concentration of .215. (R. 16: 2). One of the young women was killed, and the other four were injured. Mr. Herrman was also injured, but survived and was criminally charged. Ramona Gonzalez was the judge assigned to Mr. Herrmann's case.

At the beginning of his sentencing hearing on November 28, 2011, the judge told Mr. Herrmann:

Okay, Mr. Herrmann, there is a matter that I'd like to put on the record again just before we begin. It's not a secret that I lost a sister to a drunk driver in the summer of 1976. I made this known. I don't believe that this will have any impact on my ability to set that aside and sentence you based upon the information presented on your case and not my sister's case, but I want you to understand right off the get-go that that is something that I have zealously tried to set aside, and I do believe that I am able to do that. If you have any issues or questions that you want to ask relative to that, you're certainly welcome to ask them now.

(R. 47: 4; App. 117). Mr. Hermann's attorney indicated that this information caused "no problems." (R. 47: 4; App. 117.).

Sentencing proceeded. The State recommended a "lengthy prison sentence" and asked that the court impose consecutive sentences to recognize the separate harm to each of the victims. (R. 47: 56, 61; App. 169; 174). The presentence report contained a recommendation of a total of 40 years initial confinement in prison and 20 years extended supervision. (R. 16: 15). Mr. Herrmann's attorney recommended a total of 12-15 years initial confinement in prison and 20 years extended supervision. (R. 47: 67; App. 180).

Before pronouncing sentence, the court heard from 14 witnesses describing the effects of the tragedy, including the four surviving victims, family members of the victims, a pastor, and one witness to the accident. (R. 47: App. 118-156).

Prior to pronouncing sentence, the judge decried the community's inadequate response to the problem of drunk driving. (R. 47: 74-78). Then the judge said this:

In 1976 five young women got into a vehicle, and only one of them survived. The two gentlemen in the other vehicle were 17, drunk out of their minds, and they did not survive. That was my personal story, and I will tell you that the day does not go by that I do not think of that personal tragedy, and I wish that I could tell these victims that that pain will one day disappear, but it doesn't. Time makes it less. We redirect ourselves to other things, and a day does go by when we don't think of our loved ones and then we feel guilty at night because that happened, but life does go on and I am very grateful today that I'm looking at four lovely young ladies and that only one family has had to go through the pain that my family and the other three young ladies' families had to endure in 1976.

And so perhaps it is again destiny or a higher power or, Pastor, probably the prayers of many others that bring me to be the judge on this particular case because I probably more than anyone else who would be able to sit on this bench in this county understand the pain that these victims are feeling, but I have had the benefit of all those years since 1976 to understand that I have to make Mr. Herrmann pay, but that nothing I do to him will lessen that pain, and that if I don't do more than just incarcerate Mr. Herrmann, if I don't speak out on behalf of my community today, then this tragedy will continue to happen on our streets, and more families will suffer that way these families suffer today.

(R. 47: 78-79; App. 191-92).

The judge then urged the community not to focus on "what a monster Jesse Herrmann was and is," which would allow the community to go back to a state of complacency about drinking and driving. She urged members of the community to change their attitudes about the problem and not to "shrink from the opportunity" to intervene when they see someone who should not be driving. (R. 47: 79; App. 192). The court also discussed another recent fatal drunk driving case. (R. 47: 76, 80; app. 189, 193).

The judge discussed Mr. Herrmann's character, including his alcohol use despite his having had the benefit of supervision, assessment and treatment. (R. 47: 81, 84-85; app. 194, 197-98). The judge considered the gravity of the offense and its effects on the victims and on Mr. Herrmann's own family. (R. 47: 81-82; App. 194-95). The judge considered the need to protect the public. (R. 47: 82-83; App. 195-96).

The court then imposed consecutive sentences on the various counts totaling 31 years initial confinement and 40 years extended supervision followed by 15 more years of consecutive probation. (R. 47: 87-89; App. 190-92).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The court did not list Mr Herrmann's criminal convictions, but they were before the court by way of the presentence report. They included a first offense OWI in 2005; a citation for Possession of Open Intoxicant in a Vehicle on the same date in 2005; convictions for Carrying a Concealed Weapon, Bail Jumping, Disorderly Conduct, and Battery in 2006; and a 2007 federal conviction for Conspiracy to Possess with Intent to Distribute Methamphetamine. (R. 16: 8).

The father of the victim who was killed indicated displeasure over an apology letter that some of the victims had received from Mr. Herrmann. (R. 47:17; App. 119). Immediately after imposing sentence, the judge said:

You will have no contact with these victims or their families, and on that score I feel compelled to make a statement about your letter. I don't know what the motivation would have been for you to write such a letter to these victims, but you are never, ever to communicate, not just with them, but with any member of their families or write any letter to any other member of the community without first having that sent to the district attorney's office for review.

(R. 47: 90; App. 203). Mr. Herrmann explained that he had provided the letter to the district attorney's office as he had been directed to do, with the understanding that it would be provided only to those victims who wished to read it. (R. 47: 90; App. 203). The judge reiterated:

Well, I'm not sure how that got lost in the translation, Mr. Herrmann, but let me just say from the bench as a condition of your extended supervision other than your own family members any letter that you would write to any member of the community rendering any excuses, opinions, or concerns about your sentence or about this crime need to be run through the district attorney's office first.

# (R. 47: 90; App. 203).

It became clear that when the court imposed the sentence, the judge believed that the terms of extended supervision would run concurrent to each other by operation of law. She said that was the reason she had structured the terms of extended supervision as she did. (R. 47: 92; App. 205). The prosecutor attempted to correct this impression,

saying "Well, I'm pretty sure all the time you have ordered on extended supervision he's got to serve." The judge said "Well, if he has to serve it all, then I'm gonna keep him on supervision until he's a hundred then." The prosecutor said "Well, that's what I'm getting at is he'd be a hundred before he even started his probation term that you ordered." The prosecutor opined "That's not – I assume – that's not your intent or is it?" The judge responded:

That is my intent. If something – if somebody changes – you know, if somebody changes the way we incarcerate people in the future here, I want to make sure that he's under supervision until he dies.

(R. 47: 93; App. 206).

#### ARGUMENT

I. At Mr. Herrmann's Sentencing, the Judge's Comments Revealed that She Was Not the Impartial Judge Due Process Requires.

#### A. Introduction.

In addition to the statutory requirement of recusal based on purely subjective bias<sup>2</sup>, the United States Supreme Court has said that the Due Process Clause "has been implemented by objective standards that do not require proof

beginning of the sentencing hearing that she believed she could be fair would seem to satisfy the statute as it has been interpreted. (R. 47: 4; App. 107).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> By statute, a judge must recuse herself if she "determines that for any reason . .she cannot, or it appears. . .she cannot, act in an impartial manner." Wis. Stat. §757.19(20(g). This Court has said that the inquiry required by this statute is a purely subjective one on the part of the judge. Recusal is required only where the judge believes she cannot act impartially or where the judge believes there is an appearance of partiality. *State v. American TV & Appliance*, 151 Wis.2d 175, 183, 443 N.W.2d 662 (1989). Mr. Herrmann has never argued that Judge Gonzalez was required by statute to recuse herself. Her statement at the

of actual bias." *Caperton v. A.T. Massey Coal Co.*, 556 U.S. 868, 883, 129 S. Ct. 2252, 2263 (2009). Due process is violated by an appearance of bias if there is "a serious risk of actual bias—based on objective and reasonable perceptions." *Id.*, at 884, 129 S. Ct. 2252 at 2263.

Since *Caperton* was decided, this Court has not spoken on the precise nature of the standard that applies to due process claims based on an objective appearance of judicial bias except to acknowledge that due process does require an "objective inquiry." *State v. Pinno*, 2014 WI 74, ¶94, 356 Wis. 2d 106, 158, 850 N.W.2d 207, 233 (*citing Caperton*). Precisely which formulation of the test should be used to evaluate due process claims based on judicial bias is a question this case calls upon this Court to decide.

The Court of Appeals said it was applying the standard it had articulated in *State v. Goodson*, 2009 WI App 107, 320 wis.2d 166, 771 N.W.2d 385. That test asks whether a "reasonable person could question the court's impartiality based on the court's statements." *Id.*, at ¶ 9. Mr. Herrmann has no quarrel with the test the Court of Appeals applied. The court in *Goodson* was relying on the standard it had stated in *State v. Gudgeon.* WI App 143, 295 Wis. 2d 189, 720 N.W.2d 114, in which the court said due process was violated:

whenever a reasonable person—taking into consideration human psychological tendencies and weaknesses—concludes that the average judge could not be trusted to "hold the balance nice, clear and true" under all the circumstances.

*Id.*, at ¶ 23- 24, 295 Wis. 2d at 205-06, 720 N.W.2d at 122. This language is consistent with *Caperton*. The various formulations of the test can be encapsulated this way: Due

process is denied whenever there is an appearance of bias on the part of the judge that reveals a substantial risk of actual bias from the standpoint of a reasonable observer. It is this standard that Mr. Herrmann asks the Court to adopt.

As discussed below, while the Court of Appeals stated essentially the correct standard, that court applied it incorrectly to the facts of this case. Wherever this Court may draw the line, the statements by the judge in this case crossed it.

It is important to note at the outset what Mr. Herrmann is not arguing. He is not arguing that any time a judge is a crime victim, that judge will necessarily be impermissibly biased in a case involving the same crime. A case by case inquiry is required. In this case, it is not the bare fact that the judge lost a sister to a drunk driver in 1976 that disqualified her. Whether Mr. Herrmann would prevail on a due process claim based on that fact alone is questionable and not at issue here.

What disqualified the judge in this case was: 1) her admission that although the tragedy happened 35 years ago, she still thinks about it every day; 2) the striking similarity between the two accidents and the kind of harm they caused to the families; 3) her complete identification with the victims; 4) her belief that she was the judge in this case as a result of divine intervention because her personal tragedy made her the best judge for the job; and 5) her sense of mission to make Mr. Herrmann "pay." Mr. Herrmann seeks no bright line rule that would automatically prevent a burglary victim from sentencing a defendant in a burglary case.

#### B. Standard of review.

When analyzing a judicial bias claim, the reviewing Court presumes that the judge was fair, impartial, and capable of ignoring any biasing influences. That presumption, however, is rebuttable. *State v. Gudgeon*, 2006 WI App 143, ¶20, 295 Wis. 2d 189, 203, 720 N.W.2d 114, 121. Whether the judge is objectively biased is a question of law that this Court reviews *de novo*. *State v. Rochelt*, 165 Wis. 2d 373, 379, 477 N.W.2d 659, 661 (Ct. App. 1991).

C. Due process is denied when there is an appearance of bias on the part of the judge that indicates a substantial risk of actual bias from the standpoint of a reasonable observer.

A fair trial in a fair tribunal is a basic requirement of due process. *In re Murchison*, 349 U.S. 133, 136, 75 S. Ct. 623, 625 (1955). It has long been recognized that proof of actual bias on the part of the judge is not always necessary to establish a due process violation. In an early judicial bias case, the United States Supreme Court was called upon to determine whether a mayor who was paid from the fines collected from prohibition violators, but who also acted as the judge in the cases against the violators was impermissibly biased in violation of due process. *Tumey v. Ohio*, 273 U.S. 510, 532, 47 S.Ct. 437, 444 (1927).

In *Tumey*, the Court said that "[f]airness of course requires an absence of actual bias in the trial of cases. But our system of law has always endeavored to prevent even the probability of unfairness." *Id.* The Court acknowledged that the judge might not be biased and that there were doubtless judges who could act impartially under those circumstances. However, the Court said "Every procedure which would offer a possible temptation to the average man as a judge . . . not to

hold the balance nice, clear, and true between the State and the accused denies the latter due process of law." *Tumey*, 273 U.S. at 532, 47 S.Ct. at 444.

The Court called this a "stringent rule" and has acknowledged that it may sometimes disqualify judges who "have no actual bias and who would do their very best to weigh the scales of justice equally between contending parties." *Murchison*, 349 U.S. at 136, 75 S. Ct. at 625. This is necessary because "to perform its high function in the best way 'justice must satisfy the appearance of justice." *Id.*, *quoting Offutt v. United States*, 348 U.S. 11, 14, 75 S.Ct. 11, 13. (1954). In *Murchison*, the claim of bias was based on a procedure whereby the judge in a proceeding in which contempt occurred then also presided over the ensuing contempt proceeding.

The Due Process Clause prohibits a judge from presiding over a case when he or she has "an interest in the outcome." *Id.* But what kind or degree of interest would trigger due process concerns was for decades far less than crystal clear. The Supreme Court acknowledged as much when it said "That interest cannot be defined with precision. Circumstances and relationships must be considered." *Id.* 

The Court in *Withrow v. Larkin*, 421 U.S. 35, 95 S. Ct. 1456 (1975), reiterated that there is some point at which "the probability of bias on the part of the decision-maker is too high to be constitutionally tolerable." *Id.* at 47, 95 S. Ct. at 1464. The Court explained that to show an "unconstitutional risk of bias," it is necessary to employ "a realistic appraisal of psychological tendencies and human weaknesses." *Id.* 

None of this language defined with great precision the degree of risk or probability of judicial bias that would offend

due process. For decades there was disagreement about the application of these Supreme Court precedents to claims of judicial bias. In many cases, courts decided these claims without any reference to the Supreme Court precedents, concluding that due process was offended only if *actual* bias could be shown. *See, e.g. State v. Hollingsworth*, 160 Wis. 2d 883, 894, 467 N.W.2d 555, 560, 1 (Ct. App. 1991) ("A litigant is denied due process only if the judge, in fact, treats him or her unfairly. A litigant is not deprived of fundamental fairness guaranteed by the constitution either by the appearance of a judge's partiality or by circumstances which might lead one to speculate as to his or her partiality.")

In some cases, courts considered the Supreme Court precedents, but sought to limit them to their facts despite their broad language. In those cases, courts held that the objective test for judicial bias required a showing of actual bias except under the few very specific circumstances that had been found by the Supreme Court to create an impermissible risk of bias, such as where a judge stood to gain a pecuniary advantage based on the outcome of a case or where the judge who was the object of contempt then presided over the ensuing contempt proceeding. *See, e.g., Margoles v. Johns*, 660 F.2d 291, 296 (7th Cir. 1981).

In other cases, the courts rejected the notion that only actual bias offends due process, interpreting the Supreme Court precedents as requiring an examination of the appearance of bias. *See, e.g., Franklin v. McCaughtry*, 398 F.3d 955, 960-61 (7th Cir. 2005) (citing *Tumey* and *Murchison* for the proposition that "the Supreme Court has decided that both actual bias and the appearance of bias violate due process principles"); *Jones v. Luebbers*, 359 F.3d

1005, 1013 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2004) (disqualification required when the potential for bias is sufficient to tempt an "average man serving as a judge" to stray from impartiality.).

This Court, in the wake of the United States Supreme Court's decision in Withrow, relied upon it to conclude that the judicial bias inquiry did involve an objective test that did not require that actual bias be shown. State ex rel. DeLuca v. Common Council of City of Franklin, 72 Wis. 2d 672, 242 N.W.2d 689 (1976). ("We conclude that, in respect to this latter test, the trial judge appeared to base his ruling on whether there was actual bias revealed by the record. We believe this test to be incorrect and that actual bias need not be shown.") And the Court again suggested that under some circumstances the appearance of bias might offend due process without a showing of actual bias in *In Interest of* **Kywanda F.,** 200 Wis. 2d 26, 546 N.W.2d 440 (1996). The Court did not elaborate because it found that not even an appearance of bias had been shown in that case. The parameters of the objective test that should be employed, therefore, remained unclear.

The Wisconsin Court of Appeals waded into these waters more recently in *State v. Gudgeon*, 2006 WI App 143, 295 Wis. 2d 189, 720 N.W.2d 114. There, the court noted the tension among the cases discussing the objective test for judicial bias. The court concluded that the seemingly divergent case law could be harmonized because the cases recognizing the appearance of bias as sufficient to violate due process were limited to those circumstances where "the appearance of bias revealed a great risk of actual bias." *Id.* at ¶ 23- 24, 295 Wis. 2d at 205-06, 720 N.W.2d at 122. The Court of Appeals stated the objective test for judicial bias as follows:

In short, the appearance of bias offends constitutional due process principles whenever a reasonable person—taking into consideration human psychological tendencies and weaknesses—concludes that the average judge could not be trusted to "hold the balance nice, clear and true" under all the circumstances.

*Id.* The court stressed that the test was what a reasonable person — as opposed to a reasonable judge or legal practitioner — would conclude. *Id.* at  $\P$  26, 295 Wis. 2d at 207-08, 720 N.W. 2d at 123.

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