### **RECEIVED**

04-26-2013

# STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEAL OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2013AP000197-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JESSE L. HERRMANN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN LACROSSE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ROMONA A. GONZALEZ, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

ROBERT G. PROBST Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1063075

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE, FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

As respondent, the State exercises its option not to present a full statement of the case. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.19(3)(a)2. Instead, the State will present additional facts in the "Argument" portion of its brief.

#### **ARGUMENT**

THE CIRCUIT COURT WAS **NEITHER** SUBJECTIVELY OBJECTIVELY NOR IT BIASED WHEN SENTENCED HERRMANN. THE BASIS FOR SENTENCE IS READILY APPARENT FROM THE SENTENCING TRANSCRIPT AND IS IN CONFORMITY WITH ACCEPTABLE SENTENCING FACTORS.

- I. APPLICABLE LEGAL PRINCILPES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW.
  - A. Regarding Circuit Court Exercise Of Sentencing Discretion.

Sentencing is committed to the circuit court's discretion. *State v. Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, ¶ 17, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197, 203. A defendant challenging a sentence has a burden to show an unreasonable or unjustifiable basis in the record for the sentence at issue. *State v. Lechner*,

217 Wis. 2d 392, 418, 576 N.W.2d 912, 925 (1998). Appellate review of a circuit court's sentencing starts with the presumption that the circuit court acted reasonably, and is not interfered with if that discretion was properly exercised. *See Lechner*, 217 Wis. 2d at 418–419.

In the exercise of discretion, the circuit court is to identify the objectives of its sentence, which include but are not limited to protecting the community, punishing the defendant. rehabilitating the defendant, and deterring others. Gallion, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 40. In determining the sentencing objectives, the circuit court may consider a variety of factors, including the gravity of the offense, the character of the defendant, and the need to protect the public. See e.g. State v. Harris, 2010 WI 79, ¶ 28, 326 Wis. 2d 685, 786 N.W.2d 409. The weight assigned to the various factors is left to the circuit court's discretion. Id. The amount of necessary explanation of a sentence varies from case to case. Gallion, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 39.

Appellate analysis includes consideration of the postconviction hearing because a circuit court has an additional opportunity there to explain its sentence. *See State v. Fuerst*, 181 Wis. 2d 903, 915, 512 N.W.2d 243 (Ct. App. 1994).

## B. Regarding Alleged Bias On The Part Of The Circuit Court.

Whether a circuit court's partiality at sentencing can be questioned is a matter of law that is reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Rochelt*, 165 Wis. 2d 373, 379, 477 N.W.2d 659 (Ct. App. 1991).

As this court held in *State v. Goodson*, 2009 WI App 107, 320 Wis. 2d 166, 771 N.W.2d 385,

The right to an impartial judge is fundamental to our notion of due process. We presume a judge has acted fairly, impartially, and without bias; however, this presumption is rebuttable. When evaluating whether a defendant has rebutted the presumption in favor of the court's impartiality, we generally apply two tests, one subjective and one objective.

Goodson, 320 Wis. 2d 166, ¶ 8 (citation omitted).

To overcome the presumption of non-bias, the party asserting judicial bias must show that the judge is biased or prejudiced by a preponderance of the evidence. *State v. McBride*, 187 Wis. 2d 409, 415, 523 N.W.2d 106 (Ct. App. 1994).

#### Subjective Bias

The subjective test is based on the circuit court's own determination of his or her impartiality. State v. Walberg, 109 Wis. 2d 96, 106, 325 N.W.2d 687 (1982). A circuit court's declaration that he or she was not biased may satisfy the subjective test. Rochelt, 165 Wis. 2d at 379.

#### Objective Bias

The objective test is based on whether the circuit court's impartiality can reasonably be questioned. *Walberg*, 109 Wis. 2d at 106.

Objective bias can exist in two situations. First, where there is the appearance of bias, which this court has observed is evaluated thusly:

'[T]he appearance of bias offends constitutional due principles process whenever a reasonable person-taking into consideration human psychological tendencies and weaknesses-concludes that the average judge could not be trusted to 'hold the balance nice, clear and true' under all the circumstances.' Thus, the appearance of partiality constitutes objective bias when a reasonable person could question the court's impartiality based on the court's statements.

Goodson, 320 Wis. 2d 166, ¶ 9 (citation omitted).

The second form of objective bias occurs where "there are objective facts demonstrating . . . the trial judge in fact treated [the defendant] unfairly." *Id*. (citation omitted).

- II. APPLICATION OF PRINCIPLES AND STANDARDS TO FACTS OF THIS CASE.
  - A. The Circuit Court's Sentencing Rationale Is Consistent With Existing Law And Shows Reliance On Proper Factors.

Herrmann contends that his due process rights were violated by the circuit court's sentence in this case (Herrmann's Brief at 9-10).

Although Herrmann engages in no analysis of the applicable due process principles, a review of the circuit court's sentencing remarks makes clear that it properly addressed the statutory factors set forth in Wis. Stat. § 973.017(2) and those outlined in *McCleary v. State*, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 276, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971): the gravity of the offense, the character and rehabilitative needs of

the offender, and the need for protection of the public.

The circuit court remarked on the need to protect the public from the significant danger that drunk drivers pose, as directly and poignantly shown in this case by the four young women who were severely injured by Herrmann and the one young woman who tragically died (See e.g. 4:4-6, 47:75-79). It also discussed the gravity of the offense, and how Herrmann's decisions had caused a "ripple effect" throughout the community whose effect would be felt for years to come (47:81-83). Finally, it addressed Herrmann's prior convictions for OWI and other matters for which he was already on federal parole in rejecting probation and imposing a substantial period of confinement for each count, and its view that consecutive sentences were necessary to honor each victim and to rehabilitate Herrmann (47:75, 80-81, 83). The circuit court mitigated those issues with the recognition that Herrmann did not pursue a trial, that he had a family, and that he was still young (47:83-84). Thus, the circuit court addressed the proper factors in meting out an appropriate sentence from Herrmann. See Wis. Stat. § 973.017(2).

And, in any event, this court has held that a point-by-point discussion of the sentencing objectives is not necessary to demonstrate a circuit court's exercise of sentencing discretion. See State v. Matke, 2005 WI App 4, ¶ 19, 278 Wis. 2d 403, 692 N.W.2d 265 (If the circuit court "has considered the proper factors, explained its rationale for the overall sentence it imposes, and the sentence is not unreasonable, the court does not erroneously exercise its discretion simply by failing to separately explain its rationale for each

and every facet of the sentence imposed.") The State respectfully submits that the circuit court met that objective here.

B. Herrmann Has Not Shown That The Circuit Court Was Biased; Either Objectively Or Subjectively.

Before making the statements with which Herrmann takes issue on appeal, the circuit court, out of an abundance of caution, put on record its own experience with drunk driving and inquired if Herrmann or his trial counsel had any issue with that history:

Okay. Mr. Herrmann, there is a matter that I'd like to put on the record again just before we begin. It's not a secret that I lost a sister to a drunk driver in the summer of 1976. I made this known. I don't believe that this will have any impact on my ability to set that aside and sentence you based upon the information presented on your case and not my sister's case, but I want you to understand right off the get-go that that is something that I have very zealously tried to set aside, and I do believe that I am able to do that. If you have any issues or questions that you want to ask relative to that, you're certainly welcome to ask them now.

HERRMANN: I have none.

THE COURT: No problems?

ATTORNEY DOERFLER: No problems.

(47:4.)

Thus, before hearing from the victims and the parties as to their sentencing recommendations, the circuit court had already alerted and secured assurances from Herrmann and his trial counsel of the issue now complained of on appeal. Neither objected or took any issue with the circuit court's admission.

#### Subjective Bias

The circuit court's statements that it didn't "believe that this will have any impact on my ability to set that aside and sentence you based upon . . . your case" and that the circuit court's experience "is something I have very zealously tried to set aside, and I do believe that I am able to do that []" would seem to satisfy any concerns regarding possible subjective bias. See Rochelt. 165 Wis. 2d at 379 (a circuit court's declaration that he or she was not biased may satisfy the subjective test), see also 43:6, "When the record is reviewed in its entirety, it is clear that the court pronounced an individualized sentence, not based on bias or emotion, but based on a careful and thorough consideration of the need for punishment and future deterrence protect to the community..." Cf. Fuerst, 181 Wis. 2d at 915 (appellate sentence review includes consideration of the postconviction hearing because a circuit court has an additional opportunity there to explain its sentence).

Herrmann does not dispute that the circuit court made these statements, and does not counter them with any argument or evidence which would suggest, by a preponderance of the evidence, anything which would overcome the presumption of non-bias. *See McBride*, 187 Wis. 2d at 415.

#### Objective Bias

Following statements made by the surviving victims of the accident, all of the victims' families, and the defendant's family, the circuit court heard argument from District Attorney Gruenke and Herrmann's trial counsel, Attorney Doerfler (see 47:55-67).

District Attorney Gruenke focused on the significant "ripple effect" Herrmann's actions had upon a sizable portion of the community, which the victims who preceded his argument had made plain for the circuit court (see e.g. 47:5-42). He argued that while "[m]any of our crimes affect maybe one person, maybe one family, and doesn't go much beyond that[,] [t]his crime is something that has affected so many people in so many different ways that that reflects on the seriousness of the crime." (47:57). District Attorney Gruenke also noted that Herrmann had a substantial prior criminal record, including a prior OWI, and that he had left the scene of the accident and had to be apprehended by law enforcement officers who arrived on scene (47:57-61). Then, following Attorney Doerfler's sentencing argument, the remarks regarding the circuit court's personal experience followed shortly thereafter (see 47:78-79).

Respectfully, the circuit court's comments as selectively highlighted by Herrmann's brief simply follow and track the plain, painful realities which the victims and District Attorney Gruenke had already spoken to and which undeniably exist in this case. They do not provide an additional or objectionable basis for Herrmann's sentence because, as argued above, the basis for a

substantial prison sentence is readily apparent from the record (see e.g. 4:4-6; 47:55-62)

Thus, there is no basis for concluding that the circuit court was objectively biased in either fashion because the court's sentencing remarks provide a clearly stated, readily reviewable basis to conclude that Herrmann's sentence was not the product of any judicial bias.

And as a result, the circuit court's comments do not offend due process because a reasonable person could not question the court's impartiality based on the court's statements which simply reiterated statements already made by others regarding Herrmann's crime. *See Goodson*, 320 Wis. 2d 166, ¶ 9 ("Thus, the appearance of partiality constitutes objective bias when a reasonable person could question the court's impartiality based on the court's statements.").

Likewise, the court's comments do not present "objective facts demonstrating . . . the trial judge in fact treated [the defendant] unfairly." *Id*. Specifically, Herrmann takes issue with the severity of his sentence, contending that it is out of line with others of an apparently similar nature (Herrmann's Brief at 9).

However, the data cited by Herrmann does not appear to take into account that his sentence was not simply one single but horrific homicide by intoxicated use charge, but included <u>four</u> other similar charges, including two counts for injury by intoxicated use of a vehicle, as a repeater, two counts for operating while intoxicated causing injury, as a repeater, and <u>three</u> additional charges including hit and run involving injury, first degree

recklessly endangering safety, and homicide by use of a vehicle with a prohibited alcohol content, which were dismissed but read in (see 4; 6; 26; 45:2-3; 47:87-89; see also Wis. Stat. §§ 346.63(2)(a)1, 346.67(1), 939.50(3), 939.62(1)(b-c), 940.09(1)(a), 940.09(1)(b), 940.25(1)(a), 941.30(1)).

Additionally, as set forth in the plea questionnaire/waiver of rights form (13:1),Herrmann's sentence is within appropriate bounds based upon the maximum penalties for the crimes to which he pled, the repeater enhancers which he did not and does not dispute, and the degree of which trauma his crime inflicted on Thus, Herrmann's sentence is well community. within the range authorized by law, and is not so excessive as to shock the public's sentiment. See State v. Scaccio, 2000 WI App 265, ¶ 18, 240 Wis. 2d 95, 622 N.W.2d 449. see also Ocanas v. State, 70 Wis. 2d 179, 185, 233 N.W.2d 457 (1975). As such, Herrmann has not shown the existence of "objective facts demonstrating . . . the trial judge in fact treated [him] unfairly." Goodson, 320 Wis. 2d 166, ¶ 9.

Because the circuit court properly exercised its sentencing discretion on the basis of acceptable and apparent factors, yielding an appropriate sentence which serves the sentencing objectives as outlined by statute and case law, Herrmann has not shown the existence of any judicial bias, and his sentence was not the product of same.

#### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this court should affirm Herrmann's judgment of conviction and order denying his motion for postconviction relief.